**S233898**  
No. S \_\_\_\_\_

SUPREME COURT  
FILED

APR 19 2016

Frank A. McClellan Clerk

Deputy

**IN THE SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA**

**T. H., A MINOR, ETC., ET AL.,**

*Plaintiffs and Appellants,*

v.

**NOVARTIS PHARMACEUTICALS  
CORPORATION**

*Defendant and Respondent.*

Review of a Decision of the Court of Appeal  
Fourth Appellate District, Division One, Case No. D067839

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

\*Erin M. Bosman, Esq. (SBN 204987)  
Julie Y. Park, Esq. (SBN 259929)  
MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP  
12531 High Bluff Drive  
San Diego, California 92130-2040  
TEL: (858) 720-5100  
FAX: (858) 720-5125  
\*ebosman@mofocom  
juliepark@mofocom

Eric G. Lasker, Esq.

## **INTRODUCTION**

In *O'Neil v. Crane Co.* (2012) 53 Cal.4th 335, 366, this Court held that imposing negligence liability on a product manufacturer for harm caused by another manufacturer's product "would exceed the boundaries established over decades of product liability law." In disregard of this holding, the Court of Appeal imposed two independent duties on such defendants in this case. First, creating a direct conflict between the First and Fourth Appellate Districts, the Court of Appeal held that a former product manufacturer could be held liable for harm caused by a subsequent manufacturer's product. (*Cadlo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc.* (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513 [refusing to impose such liability].) Second, rejecting the reasoning in *O'Neil*, the Court of Appeal held that a manufacturer of a branded product could be held liable for harm caused by a generic manufacturer's copycat product.

## **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Does California impose liability on a former manufacturer of a branded product for injuries allegedly caused by a competitor's generic version of that product, although the former manufacturer divested all ownership interest in the branded product years before the generic product was sold and allegedly caused injuries?

## **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Because this appeal arises from an order sustaining a demurrer, Plaintiffs' allegations are assumed as true. Minor plaintiffs Teagan and Cardwell Hamilton were diagnosed with autism in 2012. (1AA:43.) On October 8, 2013, Plaintiffs filed this lawsuit alleging that the minor plaintiffs' autism was caused by their mother's use during pregnancy of the generic drug terbutaline, manufactured by Lehigh Valley and Global

Pharmaceuticals. (1AA:1.) Terbutaline is an FDA-approved prescription bronchodilator drug indicated for treatment of asthma, but was prescribed to Mrs. Hamilton off-label as a tocolytic, *i.e.*, to prevent pre-term labor. (1AA:22, 42-43.) Plaintiffs claimed a failure-to-warn: At the time the drug was prescribed in 2007, Lehigh Valley and Global warned against tocolytic use, but the applicable product label did not mention potential harm to the fetus. (1AA:46-49.)

Plaintiffs sued the physician who prescribed the medication; the hospital; Lehigh Valley and Global as manufacturers of the drugs used by their mother; and a number of other pharmaceutical companies, including Novartis, which were alleged to have manufactured branded drugs containing terbutaline.<sup>1</sup> (1AA:3-5.) Plaintiffs alleged that the

---

<sup>1</sup> Plaintiffs filed their first amended complaint on December 5, 2013, adding defendants NeoSan Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (the wholly-owned subsidiary through which aaiPharma had acquired Novartis's Brethine product line) and Sanofi-Aventis U.S., LLC. (1AA:16.) On April 25, 2014, plaintiffs amended their complaint to substitute Petitioner Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation for Novartis International AG. (1AA:55.) In 2014, plaintiffs voluntarily dismissed their claims against Lehigh Valley, which was insolvent, and against AstraZeneca, which had never marketed terbutaline in the United States. (AOB:11.) On September 22, 2014, the trial court sustained the demurrer of Sanofi-Aventis, the former brand manufacturer of Bricanyl, another terbutaline medication. (Slip Opn., 10.) The court rejected plaintiffs' reliance on *Conte*, holding that because there were no allegations that plaintiffs' mother took any Sanofi product, plaintiffs' harm was not foreseeable to Sanofi. (AOB:11 n.4.) On December 19, 2014, the trial court overruled the demurrer filed by Global, holding that Global could be liable as the generic manufacturer of the terbutaline used by the plaintiffs' mother. The trial court rejected Global's argument that plaintiffs' claims were preempted under *PLIVA, Inc. v. Mensing* (2011) 131 S.Ct. 2567, based on plaintiffs' allegations that Global's sales representatives had made oral representations as to terbutaline's safety that went beyond the FDA-approved product label. (AOB:12 n.4.)

pharmaceutical company defendants improperly promoted terbutaline for use as a tocolytic and that they knew or should have known of the alleged risk of terbutaline to cause autism in children exposed in utero. (1AA:40-42.) Plaintiffs alleged that this risk was identified in a series of studies conducted between the late 1970s and 2006. (1AA:22-42.)

Novartis filed a demurrer on June 11, 2014. (1AA:59.) Novartis argued that it owed Plaintiffs no duty because it had sold all rights and interests in its terbutaline product line, Brethine, to aaiPharma Inc. in 2001, and thereby left the market six years before Plaintiffs' mother's alleged 2007 terbutaline use.<sup>2</sup> (1AA:68-71.) Plaintiffs agreed via stipulation that Novartis had sold the Brethine NDA in 2001 but opposed the demurrer, arguing that Novartis owed Plaintiffs a duty because it was foreseeable that Novartis's alleged failure to include an adequate warning on the Brethine label in 2001 would cause Mrs. Hamilton's doctor to prescribe Lehigh Valley's and Global's generic terbutaline drugs six years later. (1AA:78-81, 98.)

The trial court sustained Novartis's demurrer on February 18, 2015. (1AA:101.) The trial court held that Plaintiffs could not succeed on their claims "because Novartis owed Plaintiffs no duty as a matter of law for claims that arise from the prescribing of terbutaline medication in 2007." (*Ibid.*)

The Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's holding that Novartis did not owe Plaintiffs a duty of care. (Slip Opn., 3.) In so ruling, the Court

---

<sup>2</sup> Novartis also demurred to Plaintiffs' claims of concealment and intentional misrepresentation based on Plaintiffs' failure to plead those claims with specificity. The trial court sustained Novartis's demurrer to Plaintiffs' fraud-based claims "because of a lack of specificity" (1AA:101), and this ruling was upheld on appeal. (Slip Opn., 25.)

of Appeal created a clean split in California in light of *Cadlo* and ignored *O'Neil*, rejecting Novartis's argument that California law does not impose on former manufacturers a duty of care to customers of subsequent manufacturers. The Court of Appeal also embraced and adopted the otherwise outlier innovator duty ruling of *Conte v. Wyeth, Inc.* (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 89, though this Court has not before considered the issue and has instead signaled, including through *O'Neil*, that it would decline to create such a duty.

## **WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

California has long been in the forefront nationwide on issues of product liability law. However, in its opinion below, the Court of Appeal imposed two new legal duties on product manufacturers that disregard this Court's most recent teaching on the proper limits to such liability and leave California sharply out of step with the rest of the country. *First*, the Court of Appeal held that a company that had manufactured a product solely in the past owes a duty of care to a subsequent manufacturer's customers and those who allege that they were injured by the subsequent manufacturer's product. *Second*, the Court of Appeal held that the innovator manufacturer of a branded product owes a duty of care to individuals who allege injury from a competitor's generic version of the product.

The Court of Appeal's extraordinarily broad ruling eviscerates what this Court just four years ago held to be a fundamental principle of California tort law: A defendant may not be held liable under strict liability or negligence doctrines for damage allegedly caused by another company's product. (See *O'Neil, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 335.) The Court of Appeal's ruling also stands in sharp conflict with that of another California appellate court that squarely rejected the imposition of a duty of care on a former

product manufacturer. (*Cadlo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc.* (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513.)

The material facts, all of which are undisputed, cleanly define the startling scope of these new duties. Plaintiffs allege that in 2007, their mother was prescribed terbutaline-containing medicines manufactured by Lehigh Valley and Global Pharmaceuticals. Plaintiffs allege that these medicines, beta agonist bronchodilators prescribed off-label for the prevention of premature labor, caused them to develop autism. Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation did not manufacture or market — and could not have manufactured or marketed — the medicines that allegedly caused Plaintiffs' injuries. It would have been unlawful for Novartis to do so: Although Novartis once was the New Drug Application (NDA)<sup>3</sup> holder for Brethine, a branded drug with the active ingredient terbutaline, Novartis had sold all of its rights and interests in Brethine to aaiPharma Inc. in 2001, six years before the alleged product use here. Plaintiffs correctly acknowledged below that this sale cut off not only Novartis's ability to manufacture or market the drug but also Novartis's responsibility under the Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) to monitor for drug safety and to update the drug label. Manufacturer aaiPharma, which stood to profit from Brethine sales beginning in 2001 with its NDA purchase, assumed responsibility for the medicine's label at that time. (AOB:7, 32; Slip Opn., 8; 21 C.F.R., §§ 201.57(c)(6), 314.80(b) [NDA holder responsible for safety monitoring and labeling].) Generic manufacturers, such as defendants Lehigh Valley and Global Pharmaceuticals, in turn were obliged

---

<sup>3</sup> An NDA is the vehicle through which drug sponsors formally propose that the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approve a new pharmaceutical for sale and marketing in the United States.

to market their products with the same label as that used by aaiPharma.<sup>4</sup> (AOB:29.)

The trial court sustained Novartis’s demurrer, holding that Novartis — a company which had fully divested its rights in the product years before the alleged product use here — did not owe a duty of care to Plaintiffs, who in any event admittedly were not injured by a Novartis product. In a published opinion, the Court of Appeal reversed. The Court of Appeal held that because Novartis had a duty of care to consumers of its own product, Brethine, prior to its sale of the NDA, it therefore owed a duty of care to all future consumers of the drug manufactured and sold by subsequent manufacturers. The appellate court also held that Novartis — as the one-time manufacturer of the branded drug — owed a duty of care to users of copycat generic versions of the drug, citing to a 2008 California appellate court decision that the court acknowledged has been overwhelmingly rejected by other courts. (*Conte, supra*, 168 Cal.App.4th 89.) In tandem, the Court of Appeal’s two holdings created a duty on an innovator company that runs, indefinitely and regardless of the innovator’s divestiture of the product, to subsequent consumers of the product it previously manufactured and of the slew of copycat generic products manufactured by others, regardless of the identity of the actual product the consumer used.

Each of the new duties imposed by the Court of Appeal warrants review here. Review by this Court is necessary both to “settle an important

---

<sup>4</sup> Once its drug receives FDA approval, the innovator company or a subsequent purchaser of the NDA can exclusively market and sell this “branded” product for as long as the company has patent protection. Once the patent life expires on a branded product, other manufacturers can file for FDA approval to market and sell copycat bioequivalent “generic” drugs carrying the same label as the branded product.



question of law” and “to secure uniformity of decision.” (Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1).)

The Court of Appeal’s decision to impose a duty of care on a former manufacturer demonstrates significant uncertainties over a fundamental legal principle that this Court sought to clarify in *O’Neil*. *O’Neil* held that “expansion of the duty of care [to a non-manufacturer defendant] would impose an obligation to compensate on those whose products caused the plaintiffs no harm” and that “[t]o do so would exceed the boundaries established over decades of product liability law.” (*O’Neil, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 365.) Accordingly, *O’Neil* held that the original manufacturers of valves and pumps with asbestos-containing gaskets and packing materials owed no duty to a plaintiff exposed to a subsequent manufacturer’s replacement gaskets and packing materials. (*Id.* at pp. 343-344.)

The Court of Appeal’s imposition of a duty of care on a former manufacturer stands in sharp conflict with *Cadlo*, in which another Court of Appeal rejected an identical argument by a plaintiff injured by a product seven years after the defendant had sold the product line. (*Cadlo, supra*, 125 Cal.4th at p. 523.) Though creating perfect disharmony within California, the Court of Appeal below did not cite any legal authority in support of its finding of a duty running from a former manufacturer, and Novartis is unaware of any such authority anywhere in the United States.

The Court of Appeal’s imposition of a duty of care on the innovator manufacturer of a branded drug for injuries allegedly caused by a generic drug likewise ignores this Court’s guidance in *O’Neil* and the collective wisdom of virtually every other jurisdiction that has considered the issue. The Court of Appeal based its holding on the flawed legal reasoning in

*Conte, supra*, 168 Cal.App.4th 89, which had imposed a duty on innovator drug manufacturers based on the premise that the foreseeability of potential harm creates a legal duty. (*Id.* at pp. 104-105.) But this reasoning was squarely rejected in *O'Neil*, in which this Court explained that “foreseeability does not create a duty, but sets limits once a duty is established.” (*O'Neil, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 358 [quoting *Simonetta v. Viad Corp.* (2008) 165 Wash.2d 341, 197 P.3d 127, 131, fn. 4].) And *Conte* has been overwhelmingly rejected in other jurisdictions, where 28 other courts expressly have refused to follow its lead. In total, the *Conte* theory of innovator liability has been rejected in 35 states and 95 opinions nationwide, and the very small handful of cases that have accepted the theory have each been subsequently reversed or significantly limited.

This Court’s review is vital also to settle conclusively the fundamental question whether a manufacturer owes a duty of care to consumers of other manufacturer’s products in California. If allowed to stand, the Court of Appeal’s ruling will leave companies that do business in California uniquely liable for damages caused by third-party products over which they did not and could not have any control. The Court of Appeal’s flawed and dangerous opinion compels this Court’s attention.

## LEGAL ARGUMENT

### I. THIS COURT'S REVIEW IS NECESSARY TO SECURE CONSISTENCY IN CALIFORNIA LAW ON WHETHER A NON-MANUFACTURER OWES A DUTY OF CARE TO CONSUMERS ALLEGEDLY INJURED BY ANOTHER MANUFACTURER'S PRODUCT.

#### A. The Court of Appeal's opinion creates a district split on the issue of former manufacturer liability and is contrary to this Court's ruling in *O'Neil*.

The Court of Appeal's imposition of a former manufacturer duty of care directly conflicts with the First Appellate District's ruling in *Cadlo*, *supra*, 125 Cal.App.4th at p. 516. In *Cadlo*, plaintiffs alleged that Owens-Illinois — the original manufacturer of the asbestos-containing insulation product Kaylo — should be held liable for injuries allegedly caused by Kaylo that had been manufactured after OI had sold its Kaylo division to Owens-Corning Fiberglas. (*Ibid.*) Plaintiffs' allegations against OI were based upon a far more direct relationship with OCF than is alleged here between Novartis and aaiPharma (the company that purchased the NDA for Brethine) or with Lehigh Valley or Global (the manufacturers of the generic terbutaline used by Plaintiffs' mother). As another court noted in rejecting a similar claim, OI and OCF had co-marketed Kaylo for a number of years, OI maintained a partial ownership interest in OCF after it sold its Kaylo division, and the two companies historically had shared a number of common directors and executive officers. (See *Gillenwater v. Honeywell Intern., Inc.* (Ill.App.Ct. 2013) 996 N.E.2d 1179, 1194-1195; see also *Cadlo*, *supra*, 125 Cal.App.4th at p. 522 [discussing co-marketing agreement].)

Even with these corporate relations, *Cadlo* rejected the plaintiffs' claim that OI owed a duty of care to OCF's customers. The Court of Appeal explained:

After [its sale of the product line in] 1958, Owens-Illinois made no representation about Kaylo, false or otherwise. *Cadlo's* first exposure to Kaylo was in 1965, and the Kaylo to which he was exposed was manufactured by OCF. Consequently, any misrepresentation about Kaylo's safety on which he might have relied would have been made by OCF.

(*Cadlo, supra*, 125 Cal.App.4th at p. 520.) The Court of Appeal dismissed plaintiffs' argument that OI could be liable for indirect communications about Kaylo, explaining that those communications still would need to have been made specifically about *OCF's* Kaylo. (*Id.* at p. 521.)

The Court of Appeal's imposition of a former manufacturer duty of care on Novartis likewise contravenes this Court's holding in *O'Neil*. In *O'Neil*, plaintiffs sought to hold the manufacturers of valves and pumps liable for injuries allegedly caused by exposures to asbestos from component gaskets and packing material. (See *O'Neil, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 345.) Although the manufacturers had included asbestos-containing gaskets and packing materials in their original products, the gaskets and packing materials had been replaced over time during routine maintenance with gaskets and packing materials manufactured by other companies. (*Ibid.*) Plaintiff's injuries were allegedly caused by these replacement parts. (*Ibid.*)

As in this case, the Court of Appeal in *O'Neil* held that the original manufacturers owed a duty to the plaintiff. (See *O'Neil, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at pp. 346-347.) The Court of Appeal noted that the replacement gaskets

and packing material were “no different” from the gaskets and packing material that had been included in their pumps and valves by the original manufacturers. (*Id.* at p. 347.) The plaintiff presented evidence that the health risks were known when the original manufacturers had supplied the valves and pumps including the asbestos-containing parts. (*Id.* at pp. 345.). The Court of Appeal held that if the original manufacturers “had warned the hypothetical original user, or protected that person by avoiding defective design, subsequent users, too, would have been protected.” (*Id.* at p. 347.)

This Court granted review and reversed. In its ruling, the Court emphasized that the imposition of a duty on a company that did not manufacture the alleged injury-causing product runs counter to both well-established California law and sound public policy. The Court explained that “manufacturers have a duty to warn consumers about the hazards inherent in their own products” but that “we have never held that a manufacturer’s duty to warn extends to hazards arising exclusively from *other* manufacturer’s products.” (See *O’Neil, supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 351.)

The Court of Appeal below did not provide any public policy defense for its decision to impose a new duty of care on former product manufacturers, and its footnote attempt to distinguish *Cadlo* displays its fundamental misunderstanding of existing California law. The Court of Appeal argued that *Cadlo* is inapposite because Plaintiffs here allege that they relied on Novartis’s representations about Brethine prior to its sale of the NDA in 2001. (Slip Opn., 20.) But as noted *supra*, *Cadlo* made clear that a former manufacturer could only be held liable if it had made misrepresentations specifically *about the subsequent manufacturer’s product*. And *O’Neil* expressly rejected an identical Court of Appeal holding that imposed a duty of care on a former manufacturer based upon

the alleged impact that an original warning might have had on subsequent users of other manufacturers' products.

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