#### INTHE

## SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

T.H., A MINOR, ET AL.,

SUPREME COURT FILED

Plaintiffs and Appellants,

MAY 1 0 2016

v.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

NOVARTIS PHARMACEUTICALS CORPORATION,

Deputy

Defendant and Respondent.

Review of a decision of the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division One Case No. D067839

### **Answer to Petition for Review**

Benjamin I. Siminou, Esq. Kevin F. Quinn, Esq. THORSNES BARTOLOTTA MCGUIRE LLP 2550 Fifth Avenue, 11th Floor San Diego, California 92103 Tel: (619) 236-9363 Fax: (619) 236-9653

Attorneys for Plaintiffs and Appellants T.H., a Minor, et al.

#### IN THE

## SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

T.H., A MINOR, ET AL.,

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

Relatedly, federal regulations require manufacturers of generic drugs to adopt, verbatim, the operative warning label used by the brand-name manufacturer. (See 21 U.S.C. § 355(j)(2)(A)(v) ["[T]he labeling proposed for the [generic] drug [must be] the same as the labeling approved for the [approved brand-name] drug."]; PLIVA, Inc. v. Mensing (2011) 564 U.S. 604, 613 (Mensing) ["[T]he warning labels of a brand-name drug and its generic copy must always be the same—thus, generic drug manufacturers have an ongoing federal duty of 'sameness."].)

Taking all of the above together, it becomes clear that, had Novartis added a warning regarding hazards to fetal health to the Brethine label before it sold the Brethine brand rights to aaiPharma, all subsequent Brethine manufacturers of Brethine—

brand-name or generic—would have had to use the same label with the same warning indefinitely.

That brings leads to the second of the two causation-related questions: Would a warning on the Brethine label regarding risks to fetal health have prevented Plaintiffs' exposure to Brethine?

Again, the answer is "yes." Plaintiffs alleged that, had a warning regarding risks to fetal health been present on the Brethine label, their mother's physician would not have prescribed (and Plaintiffs' mother would not have agreed to take) Brethine for management of preterm labor, whether brand-name or generic. (AA 049.)<sup>1</sup>

F. Plaintiffs' eventual exposure to Brethine was a foreseeable consequence of Novartis's failure to update Brethine's label.

Having established that (1) up until December 2001, Novartis had a legal duty to update Brethine's label when there was "reasonable evidence" of a potential hazard; (2) that there was "reasonable evidence" by December 2001 that Brethine posed a hazard to fetal health; (3) that Novartis knew or should have known about that data; (4) that Novartis breached its legal duty

It is worth noting here that under federal law, a "label" includes not only the fine print on a bottle or box containing the medication, but also includes the material inside the container ("package insert"), any marketing materials, and the *Physician's Desk Reference*, which is an exhaustive compendium of labels from drugs on the market which physicians consult in order to educate themselves regarding pertinent drug information. (See, e.g., 21 U.S.C. § 321(m); 21 C.F.R. § 202.1(l)(2); *Mensing, supra*, 564 U.S. at 614–615.) Federal law requires that all such materials mirror content of the approved "label" on file with the FDA. (E.g., 21 C.F.R. § 201.100(d).)

by failing to update Brethine's label; and (5) that there was a causal nexus between Novartis's failure to update Brethine's label and Plaintiffs' exposure to Brethine, the final question is whether it was foreseeable to Novartis that its failure to update the label would cause doctors to continue prescribing Brethine for management of preterm labor years after it sold the brand rights to the drug.

At bottom, this question really boils down to another: Did Novartis have reason to anticipate that subsequent manufacturers might similarly fail to add a warning to the Brethine label regarding potential hazards to fetal health?

Again, the answer is an unequivocal "yes."

As a threshold matter, Novartis knew or should have known that no manufacturer of *generic* Brethine would issue such a warning, because, again, federal regulations required generic manufacturers to adopt, verbatim, the warning label used by the brand-name manufacturer. (See 21 U.S.C. § 355(j)(2)(A)(v); Mensing, supra, 504 U.S. at p. 613.)

Novartis also knew or should have known that any subsequent purchaser of the Brethine brand rights was unlikely to add such a warning for the very same reasons that Novartis itself declined to do so.

To be clear, Novartis's failure to update the label before selling the Brethine brand rights was no oversight. By 2001, the vast majority of Brethine's annual sales figures were attributable to its off-label use for management of preterm labor, *not* for its FDA-approved use as an asthma drug. (AA 040–042, ¶¶ 70–76.)

Thus, by 2001, Brethine's value—both to the consuming public and to any company's looking to buy its brand rights—was tied to its popularity as a tocolytic agent. Obviously, nothing would have presented a bigger threat to that market than a warning that Brethine may cause fetal brain damage. Accordingly, rather than neuter Brethine's market value by updating its label, Novartis chose to sell the Brethine "hot potato" to aaiPharma without first making the requisite changes to the drug's label. And because Brethine's value depended on its popularity as a tocolytic, it should come as little surprise that aaiPharma did not make the requisite changes to Brethine's label either. Indeed, it was not until 2011, when the FDA—citing many of the same studies available to Novartis before December 2001—stepped in and ordered manufacturers to begin warning that Brethine posed risks to fetal health.

As a result, Novartis knew or should have known that by failing to update Brethine's label before it sold the brand rights, Novartis was setting into motion a chain of events that would inspire physicians to continue prescribing Brethine for management of preterm labor indefinitely, resulting in severe birth defects for thousands of children.

- II. Holding Novartis liable under these facts is consistent with fundamental principles of California tort law.
- A. Under California law, those who disseminate misinformation to the public are liable for the consequences of foreseeable reliance on those misrepresentations.

Rather than represent a drastic departure from California tort law, holding Novartis liable under those facts was consistent with the long-standing rule in California that those who misrepresent facts are liable for the foreseeable consequences of those misrepresentations.

That intuitive principle was first articulated in the Restatement (Second) of Torts, specifically sections 310 and 311.

Section 310 of that Restatement provides, "An actor who makes a representation is subject to liability to another for physical harm which results from an act done by the other or a third person in reliance upon the truth of the representation, if the actor . . . should realize that it is likely to induce action by the other, or a third person."

Similarly, section 311 provides, "One who negligently gives false information to another is subject to liability for physical harm caused by action taken by the other in reasonable reliance upon such information, where such harm results . . . to such third persons as the actor should expect to be put in peril by the action taken."

The principles reflected in sections 310 and 311 of the Restatement surfaced in *Hanberry v. Hearst Corp.* (1969) 276

Cal.App.3d 680, in which a consumer sued the publishers of Good Housekeeping Magazine for giving a certain brand of shoes its "seal of approval" when, in fact, the shoes were defective and caused the consumer to slip and fall. Even though the magazine did not make the shoes, the consumer alleged the magazine was nonetheless liable for her injuries for negligently misrepresenting the quality of the shoes to its readership. Citing the section 311 of the Restatement, the court agreed, holding that the magazine had "the duty to use ordinary care in the issuance of its seal and certification of quality so that members of the consuming public who rely on its endorsement [were] not unreasonably exposed to the risk of harm." (Id. at p. 684.)

In Garcia v. Superior Court (1990) 50 Cal.3d 728 (Garcia), this Court formally adopted section 311 of the Restatement into the canon of California tort law. In that case, a parole officer dissuaded a parolee's prior victim from taking precautions by reassuring her that the parolee would "not come looking for her" after he was released from prison. The assurance turned out to be inaccurate; shortly after his release, the parolee kidnapped and shot his prior victim. (Id. at pp. 731–733.) Because it was foreseeable that a member of the public might rely on the reassurances of a parole officer in refraining from taking preventative measures upon the release of a parolee, this Court—citing Hanberry and section 311 of the Restatement—held that, once the parole officer elected to speak, he bore a duty to provide accurate information and could be held accountable for harm

caused by the inaccuracy of that information. (Garcia, supra, 50 Cal.3d at pp.735-736.)

And in Randi W. v. Munroc Joint Unified School Dist. (1997) 4 Cal.4th 1066, this Court formally adopted section 310 of the Restatement. In Randi W., a student molested by a teacher sued the teacher's former school district for issuing a letter of recommendation which neglected to disclose the fact that the teacher had been terminated by that district for molesting students. Because it was foreseeable to the former school district that the new school might hire the teacher in the absence of that information, this Court—citing Restatement sections 310 and 311—held that the former school district owed the child victim a duty of due care. (Randi W., supra, 14 Cal.4th at pp. 1070, 1077, 1081.)

And finally, in Conte v. Wyeth (2008) 168 Cal.App.4th 89, the Court of Appeal relied on the foregoing authorities to hold that a plaintiff injured by a generic drug could sue a brand-name for tortious of that same drug manufacturer drug misrepresentation. Central to Conte's holding was the fact that federal drug law, by requiring generic drug manufacturers to copy the label used by brand-name manufacturers, made it imminently foreseeable to a brand-name manufacturer that the content of its warning label would be relied upon by a physician in choosing whether or not to prescribe even a generic form of that drug.

These authorities all stand for the sensible proposition that when a tortfeasor disseminates misinformation to the public, he or she is liable for the foreseeable consequences of those misrepresentations.

B. The Court of Appeal's opinion in this case does not contradict this Court's opinion in *O'Neil*, nor does it create a split of lower-court authority.

Of the many assertions in Novartis's petition, none is more pointed than Novartis's claim that the Court of Appeal's opinion contradicts settled California law. In particular, Novartis argues that the Court of Appeal's decision contradicts this Court's recent decision in O'Neil v. Crane Co. (2012) 53 Cal.4th 335 (O'Neil), and is at odds with Cadlo v. Owens-Illinois, Inc. (2004) 125 Cal.App.4th 513 (Cadlo). But as discussed below, there is no disharmony between the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case and the decisions in O'Neil and Cadlo.

1. O'Neil does not hold that a company can never be liable for injuries caused by another company's product.

Novartis argues that, by assigning liability to one company for injuries caused by another company's product, the Court of Appeal's decision in this case directly conflicts with this Court's decision in O'Neil.

In O'Neil, a former Navy officer acquired mesothelioma from asbestos exposure while working aboard a ship. Among other defendants, the plaintiff sued Crane Co., the manufacturer of the steam valves used in the ship on which he served. The plaintiff contended that his injuries were caused by asbestosladen insulation and gaskets that were paired with Crane Co.'s steam valves when the ship was constructed.

In rejecting the plaintiffs' claims against Crane Co., this Court held "that a product manufacturer may not be held liable in strict liability or negligence for harm caused by another manufacturer's product unless the defendant's own product contributed substantially to the harm, or the defendant participated substantially in creating a harmful combined use of those products." (O'Neil, supra, 53 Cal.4th at p. 342.)

Because the Court of Appeal's opinion in this case holds Novartis liable for injuries caused by Brethine tablets manufactured by another company—and because neither of the two exceptions identified in that passage from *O'Neil* seem to apply—Novartis contends that the Court of Appeal's opinion runs afoul of *O'Neil*.

But that is an overly simplistic reading of *O'Neil* that divorces the decision from the highly specific context of that case.

As a threshold matter, the *O'Neil* court's general statements that the manufacturer of one product cannot be held liable for failing to warn about hazards in another company's product was in reference to *strict products liability*, not tort law in general. (*E.g.*, *O'Neil*, *supra*, 53 Cal.4th at p. 348, 361 ["From the outset, strict products liability in California has always been premised on harm caused by deficiencies in the defendant's own product."].)

And while Novartis will surely remind this Court that O'Neil dealt with negligence claims in addition to strict-liability claims, the O'Neil Court's conclusion that Crane Co. was not negligent was not predicated on the bare fact that the plaintiff's

injuries were caused by another company's product. Rather, it was because, quite literally, the *only* thing that could be said about Crane Co. was that it knew its otherwise safe steam valves would be paired with asbestos gaskets and insulation when the ship was assembled.

O'Neil thus stands for the proposition that, where another company's product poses hazards for reasons that are wholly independent of traits or characteristics of the defendant's own product, the defendant does not have an affirmative duty to warn of the hazards associated with the other company's product simply because it is foreseeable the two products will be used in concert. In other words, the maker of a spatula is not liable for failing to warn that a stove can cause burns simply because it is foreseeable that the spatula will be used around stoves.

But this case is far different. Plaintiffs do not rely solely on the fact that Novartis could foresee that its failure to update Brethine's label with a much-needed warning regarding the risks that Brethine posed to fetal health would set into motion a chain of events that would induce physicians to continue prescribing Brethine (brand name or generic) to pregnant women indefinitely.

Rather, Novartis's liability is predicated in the first instance on the fact that Novartis breached a federally mandated duty to update Brethine's label in light of ample scientific evidence showing that Brethine posed risks to fetal health.

In short, the different outcomes in O'Neil and the Court of Appeal's opinion here—and, for that matter, the decision Conte—

are due to the different circumstances of those cases, not because of a divergence in their respective views of California tort law.

Indeed, it is notable that every court to consider the issue has held that O'Neil did not impliedly or expressly overrule Conte, the virtually identical case on which the Court of Appeal relied in reaching its decision here. (See In re Darvocet, Darvon & Propoxyphene Products Liability Litigation (E.D. Ky. 2012) 2012 WL 3842271, at \*5-6 ["The Court does not view O'Neil as limiting the holding in Conte, as suggested by [defendant]."]; Wendell v. Johnson & Johnson (N.D. Cal. 2013) 2013 WL 1741704, at \*4 ["[T]he O'Neil court's holding rests on the particular circumstances in that case, which did not warrant extending the duty of due care. Plaintiffs here have at least a reasonable argument that this case, unlike O'Neil, warrants an extension of the duty of due care given the brandname manufacturer's control over labeling."]; see also Rosa v. Taser Int'l., Inc. (9th Cir. 2012) 684 F.3d 941, 949 [holding, six months after O'Neil, that "under certain circumstances, California's negligence law may impose on a manufacturer a duty to warn individuals who, while not users of its products, could foreseeably rely on its warnings"].)

Indeed, O'Neil itself seemed to impliedly endorse the rationale behind the Court of Appeal's decision in this case when, in a footnote, it cited Powell v. Standard Brands Paint Co. (1985) 166 Cal.App.3d 357, a case in which the Court of Appeal mused that there may be some limited circumstances a company's inaccurate labeling could serve as a basis to assign liability to it

for to injuries caused by another company's "generically identical" product. (O'Neil, supra, at p. 352, fn. 7.)

# 2. The decisions in *Conte* and this case do not conflict with *Cadlo*.

Novartis also contends that the Court of Appeal's decision in this case (and the decision in *Conte*) directly conflicts with the decision in *Cadlo*, *supra*, 125 Cal.App.4th 513. But a close reading of *Cadlo* shows that, as with *O'Neil*, no such conflict exists.

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